# 72844-0

# 72844-0

### No. 72844-0-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### GEOFFREY CHISM,

Appellant,

VS.

## TRI-STATE CONSTRUCTION, INC., and LARRY AGOSTINO,

Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas Breen, WSBA #34574 Lindsay L. Halm, WSBA #37141 Schroeter Goldmark & Bender 810 3<sup>rd</sup> Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104-1657 (206) 622-8000 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Thomas M. Fitzpatrick, WSBA #8894 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Appellant Chism



###

### A. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the compensation owed by a corporation to one of its executives who also served as its general counsel, compensation a jury determined the corporation owed to him, and the subsequent usurpation by the trial court of the jury's fact-finding function when that court did not like the jury's decision.

The jury here determined that Tri-State Construction, Inc. ("Tri-State") improperly withheld compensation in the form of bonuses due to its general counsel, Geoffrey Chism ("Chism"), who also served as a company executive, for his exemplary services to it that saved the company. Dissatisfied with the jury's decision, the trial court determined that Chism was obligated to forfeit a significant portion of the bonuses to which the jury determined he was entitled due to an alleged breach of fiduciary duty to Tri-State for putative professional rules violations.

In doing so, the trial court labored under a mistaken conception of the tort of breach of fiduciary duty and based its decision on a misapplication of the Rules of Professional Conduct ("RPCs"). Although the trial court had previously found that Chism had not violated RPC 1.5, because as a matter of law an in-house counsel/executive cannot violate RPC 1.5, and the reasonableness of his compensation was not an issue, the trial court nevertheless applied RPC 1.7, 1.8, and 8.4 to compel Chism to disgorge compensation for his services as an in-house counsel/executive awarded him by the jury. In doing so, the trial court ignored that an inhouse counsel's relationship with the employer is that of master-servant. In the compensation context, those RPC provisions and common law protections involve the typical attorney-client relationship of lawyers in private practice.

This Court should reverse the trial court's decision to reduce Chism's compensation, compensation he was promised and fully earned, as contrary to the jury's verdict and earlier trial court rulings, and it should order the trial court on remand to enter judgment on the jury's verdict.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### (1) <u>Assignments of Error</u>

1. The trial court erred in denying Chism's second motion for summary judgment on February 11, 2014.

2. The trial court erred in entering its order denying Chism's motion for reconsideration/clarification on March 11, 2014.

3. The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 16.

- 4. The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 17.
- 5. The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 22.
- 6. The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 23.
- 7. The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 24.

8.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 25.
9.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 38.
10.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 41.
11.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 43.
12.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 44.
13.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 45.
14.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 46.
15.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 47.
16.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 48.
17.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 49.
18.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 50.
19.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 51.
20.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 52.
21.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 53.
22.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 55.
23.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 56.
24.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 57.
25.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 58.
26.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 59.
27.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 60.
28.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 62.

29.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 63.
30.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 64.
31.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 65.
32.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 66.
33.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 67.
34.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 68.
35.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 69.
36.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 71.
37.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 72.
38.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 73.
39.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 77.
40.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 78.
41.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 81.
42.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 83.
43.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 85.
44.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 86.
45.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 87.
46.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 89.
47.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 90.
48.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 91.
49.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 94.

	50.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 95.
	51.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 96.
	52.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 97.
	53.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 98.
	54.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 99.
	55.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 100.
	56.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 111.
	57.	The trial court erred in making finding of fact number 112.
	58.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
11.		
	59.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
12.		
	60.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
13.		
	61.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
16.		
	62.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
18.		
	63.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
10		

19.

	64.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
20.		
	65.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
21.		
	66.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
22.		
	67.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
23.		
23.	68.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
24.	00.	The trial court circu in chering conclusion of law humber
24.	(0)	
	69.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
25.		
	70.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
26.		
	71.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
27.		
	72.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
28.		
	73.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
29.		

	74.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
30.		
	75.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
31.		
	76.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
32.		
	77.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
33.		
	78.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
34.		
	79.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
35.		
	80.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
36.		
	81.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
37.		
	82.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
38.		
	83.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
39.		

	84.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
40.		
	85.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
41.		
	86.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
42.		
	87.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
43.		
	88.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
44.		
	89.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
45.		
	90.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
46.		
	91.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
47.		
	92.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
48.		
	93.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
49.		

	94.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
50.		
	95.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
51.		
	96.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
52.		
	97.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
53.		
	98.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
54.		
	99.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
55.		
	100.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
56.		
	101.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
57.		
	102.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
58.		
	103.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
59.		

	104.	The trial	l court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
60.									
	105.	The trial	l court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
61.									
	106.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
62.									
	107.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
63.									
	108.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
64.									
	109.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
65.									
	110.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
66.									
	111.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
67.									
	112.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
68.									
	113.	The trial	court	erred	in	entering	conclusion	of law	number
69.									

	114.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
70.		
	115.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
71.		
	116.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
72.		
	117.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
73.		
	118.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
74.		
	119.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
75.		
	120.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
76.		
	121.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
77.		
	122.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
78.		
	123.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
80.		

. •

	124.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
81.		
	125.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
82.		
	126.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
83.		
	127.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
84.		
	128.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
85.		
	129.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number
87.		
	130.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion number 3.
	131.	The trial court erred in entering conclusion number 4.
	132.	The trial court erred in entering the judgment on April 24,
2015.		
	(2)	Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Where the trial court dismissed a corporation's claim for common law breach of fiduciary duty against its in-house counsel/executive because it failed to establish its harm element, did the trial court err in retaining and deciding a claim for breach of fiduciary duty based on alleged violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct? (Assignments of Error Numbers 1, 2, 3-131, 132).

2. Where the jury determined that an in-house counsel/executive was entitled to bonuses pursuant to a compensation agreement with the corporation and that such agreement was based on a full and fair disclosure, was fair and reasonable, and was free from undue influence, did the trial court err in concluding that the in-house counsel/executive breached his fiduciary duty to his corporate employer in accepting bonuses pursuant to a compensation agreement in violation of RPC 1.7, 1.8, and 8.4, improperly applying those rules to an employment relationship? (Assignments of Error Numbers 1, 2, 3-131, 132).

3. Where the jury determined an employer willfully withheld compensation due to an in-house counsel/executive, but the trial court subsequently reduced the counsel's compensation based on alleged breach of fiduciary duty, did the court err in calculating the double damages award mandated by RCW 49.52.070 on the net compensation awarded rather than the actual compensation withheld? (Assignments of Error Numbers 129-32).

4. Is the in-house counsel/executive entitled to recover his attorney fees on appeal pursuant to RAP 18.1?

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Geoffrey Chism has been licensed to practice law in Washington since 1977. CP 83. During his career,<sup>1</sup> Chism handled substantial disputes involving major construction claims and litigation, "workouts" on troubled projects, and surety/bonding matters including defaults on large

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chism advised and represented clients almost exclusively on construction and development-related matters. CP 84. He spent the first decade of his career with Seattle's preeminent construction firm, now known as Oles Morrison & Baker, where he was a partner. CP 83-84. Chism then founded and was managing partner at Stanislaw, Ashbaugh, Chism Jacobson & Riper, as well as successor firms Chism, Jacobson & Johnson and Weinstein, Chism & Riley. CP 84. In September 2000, he joined the firm of Chism, Thiel, McCafferty & Campbell, where he remained until his retirement from private practice in 2009. CP 84; RP (5/12/14):44-46.

development projects; he also advised companies on internal management issues like succession planning and financial strategy. CP 84.<sup>2</sup> Owing to his depth of knowledge and experience, he also served as mediator and arbitrator on construction-related disputes. CP 85.

In private practice, Chism charged clients on an hourly basis, with the exception of his arrangement with Tri-State, discussed *infra*. CP 106. Like any other lawyer, he adjusted his hourly rate periodically to reflect market conditions and his rising skill and experience level. CP 106. Chism's hourly rate was never deemed unreasonable or excessive by any court or tribunal. CP 106-07.<sup>3</sup>

Tri-State's founder, Joe Agostino, retained Chism to serve as its outside lawyer in 1981. CP 85-86; RP (5/12/14):60. In the mid-1990s, Agostino chose his middle son, Ron, to take over Tri-State's operation. CP 86; RP (5/12/14):63. Ron Agostino, in turn, retained Chism as Tri-State's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chism's clients were representative of the full spectrum of construction-related services he provided, including international outfits (ABB, the world's largest electrical contractor, Ledcor and Hensel Phelps Construction Company); local family-owned contractors (Tri-State, Rivera and Green, Versatile Drilling); government agencies (City of Seattle), development and construction lenders (Washington Federal), architects and engineers (John Graham Company). CP 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In fact, after becoming Tri-State's general counsel, Chism's hourly rate was twice accepted as reasonable: (1) the Honorable Karen Overstreet granted fees based on Chism's then hourly rate of \$325 per hour as special trial litigation counsel; and (2) arbitrator Christopher Soelling granted fees based on Chism's then hourly rate of \$400 per hour. *Id.*; CP 113-25. Although Chism's rate had in fact increased to \$500 per hour by 2008, Chism charged Tri-State \$400 per hour. CP 107; RP (5/12/14):49.

chief legal advisor for the next two decades. CP 86; *see also*, CP 9. Over those three decades of representation, Chism was involved in numerous matters for Tri-State, and he developed an intimate knowledge of its business, the type of legal issues the company faced, and its personnel. Chism shared a relationship with Joe and Ron Agostino built on trust and loyalty – a fact that Tri-State did not dispute below.  $Id.^4$ 

Ron Agostino was Tri-State's president until March 7, 2012; he then became its secretary, treasurer, and chairman. CP 2, 8. Larry Agostino, Joe's youngest son, became the president and primary decisionmaker at Tri-State. *Id.* Prior to the instant dispute that arose on April 10, 2012 (just weeks into Larry Agostino's turn as President) the parties had not a single disagreement over compensation or any other aspect of Chism's representation. CP 105. Until Ron resigned his position as Tri-State's president, he negotiated and managed Chism's compensation and his work; Ron trusted Chism completely, and testified that Chism never took advantage of him. RP (5/20/14):93. Ron communicated financial matters to Tri-State's board, including Chism's compensation. RP (5/7/14):144.

Tri-State builds huge complex construction projects, including roads, highways, airports, landfills, and dams, moving dirt and setting utility lines. CP 85; RP (5/7/14):101-2. The nature of the work creates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Chism described working for Tri-State as "an honor." CP 85.

complicated legal issues that must be successfully resolved: complex construction contracts, subcontractor agreements, construction claims, environmental and other regulatory compliance, disadvantaged business contracting requirements, employment, safety, and injury issues. The company experienced tremendous success over the years; Tri-State was one of the largest businesses of its kind in the Northwest, employing more than 300 employees during its peak. CP 85, 139.

Up until 2002 when Chism was in private practice, he charged Tri-State on an hourly basis, at his usual hourly rate, just as he did for all other clients. RP (5/12/14):76. Sometime in the fall of 2002, Joe and Ron Agostino and Chism met to discuss the company's growing legal needs. CP 87. The Agostinos expressed their desire to put Chism's skills to use more proactively by having him consult directly with Tri-State managers in order to reduce or eliminate problems altogether and to obtain his services on a priority basis. *Id.* The result was a new arrangement: Chism would continue to work in private practice and represent other clients, but he would make Tri-State his priority and would be paid a flat fee each month for all non-litigation (or, "general counsel") services. CP 87-88, 159-61.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Chism billed hourly and separately for any time spent on matters that were in litigation (or arbitration), as such time varied wildly from month to month. CP 87. The trial court did not conclude that this change in Chism's relationship with Tri-State violated the RPCs. CP 2468-98.

After this arrangement was in place, Chism limited taking on new clients or matters. RP (5/12/14):80. By this point in their relationship, the parties had a keen sense of the company's legal needs and the corresponding cost of legal services for an average month. CP 87-88. The parties arrived at a figure they deemed fair: \$10,000 per month, the rough equivalent of a full day per week of Chism's time if he had he charged hourly at his then rate of \$325, excluding litigation. CP 87; RP (5/12/14):78.

The arrangement worked as envisioned. Chism was generally available whenever and wherever the company needed him, up until the day he resigned in 2012.<sup>6</sup> CP 88-89, 138. Chism's efforts benefited Tri-State and minimized attorney fee expenditures because Tri-State was able to avoid having disputes ripen into litigation. CP 90. The arrangement was attractive to Chism, too. After decades of having to keep a time sheet billing every tenth of an hour, he could forgo it for this favored client. CP 87-88. It also allowed and, in fact, *required* Chism to scale back his hectic private practice to prioritize Tri-State's needs. CP 87-88.<sup>7</sup>

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  E.g., CP 169 (Vice President referring to Chism as "Geoff 24/7"); CP 138 (attesting that Chism did what he was asked to do and was there when the company needed him).

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  During his first twenty years in practice, Chism routinely billed at least 2200 hours per year and consistently brought in more business than he could handle by himself. CP 84.

Chism routinely worked at least 7 hours a week advising, counseling and trouble-shooting for Tri-State. CP 87; RP (5/12/14):79. Between 2002 and 2007, Tri-State agreed to three upward adjustments of Chism's general counsel fee to reflect the increased time he spent on Tri-State matters<sup>8</sup> and the increase in his hourly billing rate.<sup>9</sup> By the end of 2007, the monthly general counsel fee was \$17,000. CP 90.

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