COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

GEOFFREY CHISM,

Appellant,

 \mathbf{v} .

TRI-STATE CONSTRUCTION, INC. and LARRY AGOSTINO,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS

John S. Riper, WSBA# 11161 Sarah E. Cox, WSBA #46703 ASHBAUGH BEAL, LLP 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104-7012 (206) 386-5900 / fax (206) 344-7400

Attorneys for Respondents

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

Argument

- I. Chism's opening brief fails to permit meaningful appellate review of most of what he claims to be appealing.
 - A. Chism fails properly to present alleged error as to any of the 55 Findings of Fact he lists as erroneous.

In his opening brief, Chism assigns error to 55 of the trial court's Findings of Fact (reproduced in the Appendix). Yet in his entire brief he does not address a single one of those Findings, nor argue how it is unsupported by substantial evidence or otherwise erroneous. Because neither the appellate court nor Tri-State has any meaningful opportunity to address particular assignments of error that Chism fails to argue, his assignments of error are deemed abandoned.

[The City] assigned error to 21 of the findings.... However, in its opening brief the City mentioned only two of the findings to which it had assigned error. Such discussion is inadequate for all except the two mentioned findings. A party abandons assignments of error to findings of fact if it fails to argue them in its brief.

Valley View Industries Park v. City of Redmond, 107 Wn.2d 621, 630, 733 P.2d 182, 188 (1987). See Shelcon Construction Group v. Haymond, Wn. App. ___, 351 P.3d 895, 901-02 (2015) ("[O]ther assignments of error purport to assign error to a finding of fact as written but fail to argue why substantial evidence does not support them. Because Anchor Bank fails to argue why these findings of fact are erroneous, we do not consider them."); Green v. McAllister, 103 Wn. App. 452, 469, 14 P.3d 795, 805

(2000) ("We need not review a challenge to findings that does not cite to the record showing why the findings are not supported by the record."); *In re Marriage of Glass*, 67 Wn. App. 378, 381 n.1, 835 P.2d 1054, 1055 (1992) ("A party abandons assignments of error to findings of fact if he or she fails to argue them in his or her brief.").

B. Chism's brief is riddled with factual assertions that contradict uncontested Findings of Fact, as well as factual assertions supported solely by reference to material outside the trial record.

The primary record source for the factual assertions in Chism's brief is a document that occupies CP pages 83-108. The Brief of Appellant cites to it seventy times, frequently as the only source for the brief's factual assertions. Not once does Chism's brief mention what that document is. In fact, it was a Chism declaration in support of a summary judgment motion, filed six months before the trial began. Neither the jury (who of course never saw it) nor the trial judge (before whom it would have been hearsay) could have relied on it for their respective adjudications. It was outside the trial record.

By basing his characterization of the evidence at trial primarily on non-evidence outside the trial record, the Brief of Appellant frequently asserts facts that contradict the *actual* evidence at trial, and that indeed contradict undisputed Findings of Fact. For example, Chism's brief contradict undisputed Findings of Fact. For example, Chism's brief repeatedly claims that *Tri-State* initiated and requested the various changes that Chism proposed to his attorney compensation terms, while the Findings of Fact explain that in each instance it was *Chism* who promoted the modified arrangements. 132

The portrayal of facts in the Brief of Appellant is not a fair statement of the facts of the case as shown in the actual trial record.

C. Chism assigns error to 74 Conclusions of Law, but makes no argument that a single one of them is unsupported by the Findings of Fact.

Where the trial court has weighed the evidence, our review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether those findings of fact support the trial court's conclusions of law.

Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 689, 151 P.3d 1038, 1050 (2007). The Brief of Appellant assigns error to 74 Conclusions of Law. In those Conclusions, the trial court assembled the factual determinations

Compare Brief of Appellant p. 16 ("The Agostinos expressed their desire") to CP 2440 (Finding of Fact No. 6) ("In late 2002, Mr. Chism began charging"). Compare Brief of Appellant p. 21 ("Agostino suggested that they revisit Chism's compensation arrangement") to CP 2447 (Finding of Fact No. 38) ("Mr. Chism raised the concept of his receiving a bonus"). Compare Brief of Appellant p. 24 ("A bonus/adjustment in the amount of \$500,000 was proposed by Ron Agostino") to CP 2460 (Finding of Fact No. 81) ("Mr. Chism raised the issue of a bonus for FY 2011 and came up with a proposed bonus of \$500,000").

RPC/fiduciary duties found to have been violated and by the individual transactions in which those violations took place. The Conclusions not only describe the relevant factual determinations that support the court's Conclusions, but in many instances reference to specific evidence supporting those Conclusions.

For not a single one of the Conclusions of Law for which Chism assigns error does the Brief of Appellant argue that it is unsupported by the Findings of Fact.

Chism's brief *does* make arguments about what he contends the law is (or ought to be). Respondents will therefore focus on the legal issues raised by Chism in those arguments.

II. The trial court did not err by adjudicating the equitable issues of Chism's RPC/fiduciary duty violations.

Chism argues that the trial court, by adjudicating his RPC violations and ordering disgorgement of part of his compensation, unconstitutionally infringed on the jury's adjudication of his claims. Chism's argument is doubly mistaken. First, *he* was the one who urged the trial court to proceed as it did; he cannot now reverse his position and

claim the trial court erred for doing what he had urged. Second, the trial court acted appropriately, with or without Chism's urging.

Plaintiff sued for breach of contract. Tri-State asserted as a defense and counterclaim that Chism breached his RPC/fiduciary duties. Before and during trial, Chism adamantly insisted that all evidence and issues regarding the disputed RPC/fiduciary duty breaches be kept from the jury, and be separately adjudicated by the trial court. For example, Chism's trial brief said:

This is a bifurcated trial. Plaintiff's contract and wage claims go to the jury. Defendants' claims do not. Judge Trickey previously ruled that RPC 1.5 ("reasonable fees") does not apply to compensation; and all remaining RPC-based claims will be tried to the Court in a separate post-trial proceeding. 134

At Chism's own insistence, Judge Schubert reserved adjudication of Chism's RPC/fiduciary duties to the court. That reservation included

See Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 222, 224-25, 108 P.3d 147, 148 (2005) ("Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from gaining an advantage by asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position.").

CP 1924-25. See also, RP (4/23/14 (morning transcript)):5 ("[I]t's our strong belief, and we think it would be error, to submit the [common law fiduciary duty breach claim] to the jury."); RP (4/23/14 (morning transcript)):34 ("So if we try this in a bench proceeding, experts get to hash that out. I'm not saying Tri-State doesn't get their day in court. I'm not moving there. I'm not trying to boot their claim to the sidewalk. I'm suggesting that the proper forum when you seek disgorgement is a bench trial").

determining whether and to what extent disgorgement of the fee compensation paid to (and claimed by) Chism was appropriate. Plaintiff not only understood that the trial court was reserving for its own, independent adjudication whether Chism violated his RPC/fiduciary obligations, plaintiff advocated for that course:

Defendants' claim for breach of fiduciary duty must be tried to the Court for the Court to determine whether it should exercise the equitable remedy of ordering Mr. Chism to disgorge the \$310,000. Likewise, if contract damages are awarded to Mr. Chism, the Court may decide whether to void such awards. ¹³⁵

That is how the trial proceeded. The trial court excluded all reference to the RPCs from the jury. The trial court heard outside the jury's presence all testimony on the professional standards applicable to an attorney regarding an attorney's dealings with his own client, the breach of which could warrant disgorgement. The trial court intentionally did not instruct the jury on what an attorney's fiduciary duties to a client entailed, including all of an attorney's RPC obligations.

During the finalizing of jury instructions, the court and counsel discussed whether to give an instruction on the so-called *Kennedy* duties: "[T]hat the contract with [the attorney's] client was fair and reasonable, free from undue influence, and made after a fair and full disclosure of the

¹³⁵ CP 1932.

facts". *Kennedy v. Clausing*, 74 Wn.2d 483, 491, 445 P.2d 637, 642 (1968). Chism's counsel raised the idea of submitting those three issues as questions on the verdict form, merely for advisory opinions from the jury to thereafter assist the trial court in its adjudication of the RPC issues, and the trial court adopted that suggestion. The court put Jury Instruction 10 (listing the *Kennedy* factors) in the jury's instructions. Chism's counsel modified the jury form to include questions for each of the three *Kennedy* issues. Chism's counsel then confirmed to the trial court what everyone understood: That the jury's answers would be merely advisory opinions. 138

Had Chism's counsel not invited the use of advisory questions, Judge Schubert would not have asked them, and would not have given the *Kennedy* instruction.¹³⁹

Even had Chism not advocated for the trial court independently adjudicating the RPC/fiduciary breach issues for purposes of determining disgorgement, the law would have amply supported the trial court in nevertheless doing so. The authority of the judicial branch of government arises from Washington Constitution Article IV, Section 1. An inherent

¹³⁶ RP (5/29/14):56 & 70; RP (9/30/14):42.

¹³⁷ RP (5/29/14):126 & 129.

¹³⁸ RP (5/29/14):148.

¹³⁹ RP (9/30/14):49.

part of that authority is the power to regulate the practice of law. *Bennion*, *Van Camp, Hagen & Ruhl v. Kassler Escrow, Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 443, 452, 635 P.2d 730, 735 (1981) ("It is a well established principle that one of the inherent powers of the judiciary is the power to regulate the practice of law.").

The rules of professional conduct and the attorney disciplinary system, all under the ultimate authority of the Supreme Court, are part of the judiciary's regulation of the practice of law. "The Supreme Court has an exclusive, inherent power to admit, enroll, discipline, and disbar attorneys." *Short v. Demopolis*, 103 Wn.2d 52, 62, 691 P.2d 163, 169 (1984). Disgorgement is a mechanism for the courts to exercise their inherent constitutional authority to regulate and discipline the practice of law.

The trial court found that Denver violated the CPR and breached his fiduciary duty to his clients. Disgorgement of fees is a reasonable way to "discipline specific breaches of professional responsibility, and to deter future misconduct of a similar type." Such an order is within the inherent power of the trial court to fashion judgments.

Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 463, 824 P.2d 1207, 1213 (1992), (citation omitted, emphasis added). The interests protected by the judiciary in enforcing rules of professional conduct are much broader than merely compensating victims. The courts act instead "for the protection of

the court, the proper administration of justice, the dignity and purity of the profession, and for the public good and the protection of clients." *Short v. Demopolis*, 103 Wn.2d 52, 62, 691 P.2d 163, 169 (1984); *see In re Marriage of Wixom & Wixom*, 182 Wn. App. 881, 898, 332 P.3d 1063, 1072 (2014) ("Rules of professional conduct should be construed broadly to protect the public from attorney misconduct.").

Because disgorgement relates to disciplinary interests rather than to compensatory interests that are vested in private parties, proof of causation or damage as a consequence of professional misconduct is not required for disgorgement. "A finding of causation and damages is not required to support an order of disgorgement." *Behnke v. Ahrens*, 172 Wn. App. 281, 298, 294 P.3d 729, 738 (2012). And for the same reason, disgorgement is exclusively and independently the province of the court sitting in equity: "Disgorgement of fees is a discretionary decision for the trial judge, not the jury." WPI 107.08 comment.

Trial courts, in exercising their exclusive authority to adjudicate issues leading to disgorgement, are not infringing on anyone's constitutional right to a jury. The right to a jury is for causes of action *at law*. "The right of trial by jury *on a legal claim* is inviolate. Const. art. I, § 21." *Green v. McAllister*, 103 Wn. App. 452, 462, 14 P.3d 795, 801 (2000) (emphasis added). Disgorgement is not a legal claim. Chism never

had any right to have any aspect of his liability for disgorgement determined by a jury. And as mentioned, it was *Chism's own position* that: "As the Court is aware, disgorgement is an equitable remedy to be decided by the Court." ¹⁴⁰

Consequently, the jury below was never instructed on any of the fiduciary duties an attorney owes her client, let alone on all of the RPC obligations at issue before the trial court. Instead, the issues submitted to the trial court were framed as if the dealings between Chism and Tri-State were arm's length transactions. As the Supreme Court once observed: "Though McGlothlen's conduct as measured against ordinary standards was entirely proper, it did not meet the stringent requirements imposed upon an attorney dealing with his or her client." Matter of McGlothlen, 99 Wn.2d 515, 525, 663 P.2d 1330, 1336 (1983) (emphasis added). The trial court reserved and adjudicated issues the jury never considered. There was no conflict between those adjudications.

Indeed, even without the trial court's inherent authority to adjudicate RPC/fiduciary issues for disgorgement, a trial court's adjudication in equity can operate independent of a jury's determination of legal claims in the same case. The trial court can even obtain advisory

¹⁴⁰ CP 1932.

opinions for the jury without being bound by them in the equity adjudication.

In *Green v. McAllister*, 103 Wn. App. 452, 14 P.3d 795 (2000), a dispute among partners involved claims for damages which were tried to a jury, and a claim for an accounting which was equitable and therefore tried to the bench. Both claims involved the value of certain real property. The judge had the jury determine damages on the damages claim (which determination was final and binding *on the legal claim*), and the judge had the jury make a finding regarding what it considered the value of the property, which was advisory to the judge *on the equitable claim*. The trial court was free to – and apparently did – take a different view about the value of the property for purposes of the equitable claim, but did not have the authority to modify the jury's determination of damages, inasmuch as determining damages was exclusively in the province of the jury:

The jury's verdict was advisory on the valuation of the property. *The court functioned in equity and therefore as the ultimate fact finder*. The breach of contract claim, however, was put to the jury as a legal claim. The power of the court to reduce the *damages* is therefore limited, by well established law.

103 Wn. App. 452, 461-62 (emphasis added).

III. RPC obligations of an attorney in private practice can apply to in-house general counsel, and those duties do apply when the in-house attorney's relationship to his client remains identical to his earlier outside general counsel relationship. That was explicitly the relationship between Chism and Tri-State, and the trial court correctly found violations of Chism's RPC/fiduciary duties.

The trial court found that Chism, in proposing and persuading his client to agree to modify his attorney compensation terms so that he could demand each of his three bonuses from Tri-State, violated RPC 1.7, 1.8(a), and 8.4(c). Although the Brief of Appellant concedes that the RPCs apply to in-house counsel, the bulk of Chism's argument is that they somehow don't apply to *him*.

All of Chism's arguments and authorities have a common thread: The premise that "[a]n in-house counsel is different." The reason none of those arguments or authorities is apt in the present case is that when it came to Chism's professional relationship with Tri-State, as in-house counsel he *wasn't* different. His relationship was – by design – identical to what it had been as outside counsel.

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